
May 29, 2009 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Michael de van der Schueren 
Director, Compliance 
Best Theratronics, Ltd. 
413 March Road 
Ottawa, Ontario 
Canada K2K 0E4  
 
SUBJECT:  NOTICE OF VIOLATION 
 
Dear Mr. de van der Schueren:  
 
This refers to the in-office review of the submitted quality assurance program description for 
Best Theratronics, Ltd. (Best) conducted by U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) staff 
between March 3 and April 24, 2009, and the subsequent discussion which occurred on May 
21, 2009, at a public meeting at NRC headquarters between Best and the NRC.  Based on the 
information discovered during the in-office review and subsequent discussions, the NRC has 
determined that a violation of 10 CFR 71.3 and 71.17 has occurred.  First, Best delivered for 
transport and transported licensed material in an NRC Certificate of Compliance (CoC) No. 
9299 transportation packaging without a license, in violation of 10 CFR 71.3.  Second, Best had 
not registered with the NRC to use the transport packaging, and had not submitted their quality 
assurance program for approval, both requirements of 10 CFR Part 71.17(b) and (c)(3), 
respectively.  The violation is described and cited in the enclosed Notice of Violation (Notice).    
 
While the NRC is not aware of any actual safety consequences associated with the shipments, 
the NRC is concerned that Best did not recognize their responsibilities prior to shipping 
radioactive material under 10 CFR Part 71. 
 
The NRC does recognize that the Best transition to a separate entity from a previously affiliated 
company was hampered by the death of a transition team member.  The NRC also recognizes 
Best has taken some actions to correct the violations of 10 CFR Part 71.  Best described the 
actions noted below at a meeting at NRC headquarters on May 21, 2009, where Best and NRC 
personnel discussed the areas of violation on Best’s part and the company information pertinent 
to the NRC which helped NRC staff to understand Best’s company organization, products, and 
actions associated with the NRC’s concerns.   
 

1. Best submitted a request to have the NRC review and, if acceptable, approve their 
quality assurance program description. 

 
2. Best stopped shipping radioactive materials in Type B packages in consideration of 

NRC concerns. 
 

3. Best submitted a request to the NRC to be a registered user of the transport 
packages which they have taken ownership of. 
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4. Best indicated that they had conducted an internal investigation of how the violated 
portions of 10 CFR Part 71 occurred. 

 
5.   Best developed a modified process for conducting shipping reviews prior to shipping. 
 

In addition to the violation, NRC recognized that Best had not transferred the CoCs for the 
transportation packaging they recently acquired from another company, to their name, prior to 
shipping radioactive material in the packaging.     
 
You are required to respond to this letter and should follow the instructions specified in the 
enclosed Notice when preparing your response.  The NRC will use your response, in part, to 
determine whether further enforcement action is necessary to ensure compliance with 
regulatory requirements during future inspections.  
 
In accordance with 10 CFR 2.390 of the NRC “Rules of Practice,” a copy of this letter, its  
enclosure(s), and your response will be made available electronically for public inspection in the 
NRC Public Document Room or from the NRC document system (ADAMS), accessible from the 
NRC Web site at http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html.  
 
 

Sincerely,  
 
 
 
     /RA/ 
 
     David W. Pstrak, Chief 
     Rules, Inspections, and Operations Branch 

Division of Spent Fuel Storage and Transportation 
     Office of Nuclear Material Safety 

  and Safeguards 
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4.   Best indicated that they had conducted an internal investigation of how the violated 
portions of 10 CFR Part 71 occurred. 

 
5. Best developed a modified process for conducting shipping reviews prior to shipping. 

 
In addition to the violation, NRC recognized that Best had not transferred the CoCs for the 
transportation packaging they recently acquired from another company, to their name, prior to 
shipping radioactive material in the packaging.     
 
You are required to respond to this letter and should follow the instructions specified in the 
enclosed Notice when preparing your response.  The NRC will use your response, in part, to 
determine whether further enforcement action is necessary to ensure compliance with 
regulatory requirements during future inspections.  
 
In accordance with 10 CFR 2.390 of the NRC “Rules of Practice,” a copy of this letter, its  
enclosure(s), and your response will be made available electronically for public inspection in the 
NRC Public Document Room or from the NRC document system (ADAMS), accessible from the 
NRC Web site at http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html.  
 

Sincerely, 
 
       
     /RA/  
 
     David W. Pstrak, Chief 
     Rules, Inspections, and Operations Branch 

Division of Spent Fuel Storage and Transportation 
     Office of Nuclear Material Safety 

  and Safeguards 
Docket No.   71-0943 
 
Enclosure:  Notice of Violation 



 

 

 
NOTICE OF VIOLATION 

 
Best Theratronics, Ltd.                                                        Docket No. 71-0943 

             
413 March Road 
Ottawa, Ontario 
Canada K2K 0E4  
   
During the acknowledgment review of the Best Theratronics, Ltd. (Best) Quality 
Assurance program submittal on March 3, 2009, and subsequent communications, 
between March 3 and April 24, 2009, with the licensee, a violation of NRC 
requirements was identified.  In accordance with the "General Statement of Policy 
and Procedure for NRC Enforcement Actions," NUREG-1600, the violation is listed 
below:  

A. Violation 

10 CFR 71.3 states, in part, except as authorized in a general license or specific 
license issued by the Commission, no licensee may (a) deliver licensed material to a 
carrier for transport, or (b) transport licensed material. 

10 CFR 71.17(b) states, in part, this general license applies only to a licensee who 
has a quality assurance program approved by the Commission.  
 
10 CFR 71.17(c)(3) states, in part, the licensee’s name and license number and the 
package identification number specified in the package approval must be submitted 
in writing before the licensee’s first use of the package.  
 
Contrary to the above, on October 7 and 8, 2008, Best delivered licensed material to 
a carrier for transport in NRC CoC No. 9299 transportation packages without a 
license.  10 CFR 71.3, “Requirement for license,” provides that no NRC licensee may 
deliver licensed material or transport licensed material without a license.  Further, 
Best failed to comply with the requirements of 10 CFR 71.17(b) and (c)(3), “General 
license: NRC-approved package,”  because they shipped radioactive material without 
an NRC approved quality assurance program and failed to register with the NRC as a 
user of the packaging used in transport. 

                                 
 This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement VI). 
 

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, Best is hereby required to submit a 
written statement or explanation to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, ATTN:  
Document Control Desk, Washington, D.C. 20555 with a copy to David W. Pstrak, 
Chief, Rules, Inspections, and Operations Branch, Division of Spent Fuel Storage 
and Transportation, Office of Nuclear Material Safety and Safeguards, within 30 days 
of the date of the letter transmitting this Notice of Violation (Notice).  This reply 
should be clearly marked as a "Reply to a Notice of Violation" and should include for 
each violation:  (1) the reason for the violation, or, if contested, the basis for disputing 
the violation or severity level, (2) the corrective steps that have been taken and the 



 

 

results achieved, (3) the corrective steps that will be taken to avoid further violations, 
and (4) the date when full compliance will be achieved.   

 
Your response may reference or include previous docketed correspondence, if the 
correspondence adequately addresses the required response.  Where good cause is 
shown, consideration will be given to extending the response time.  
 
If you contest this enforcement action, you should also provide a copy of your 
acknowledgement, with the basis for your denial, to the Director, Office of 
Enforcement, United States Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, D.C. 
20555-0001. 
 
Because your response will be made available electronically for public inspection in 
the NRC Public Document Room or from the Publicly Available Records (PARS) 
component of NRC’s document system (ADAMS), 
http://www.nrc.gov/NRC/ADAMS/index.html, to the extent possible, it should not 
include any personal privacy, proprietary, or safeguards information so that it can be 
made available to the public without redaction.  ADAMS is accessible from the NRC 
Web site at http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html, (the Public Electronic 
Reading Room).  If personal privacy or proprietary information is necessary to 
provide an acceptable response, then please provide a bracketed copy of your 
response that identifies the information that should be protected and a redacted copy 
of your response that deletes such information.  If you request withholding of such 
material, you must specifically identify the portions of your response that you seek to 
have withheld and provide in detail the bases for your claim of withholding (e.g., 
explain why the disclosure of information will create an unwarranted invasion of 
personal privacy or provide the information required by 10 CFR 2.790(b) to support a 
request for withholding confidential commercial or financial information).  If 
safeguards information is necessary to provide an acceptable response, please 
provide the level of protection described in 10 CFR 73.21. 
 
In accordance with 10 CFR 19.11, you may be required to post this Notice within two 
working days.  
 
Dated this 29th day of May, 2009 
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